## Feed the Future Innovation Lab for Food Security Policy

**Research Paper 180** 

October 2020

Mali Food Security Policy Research Program

## QUALITATIVE ASSESSMENT OF PESTICIDE RISKS IN WEST AFRICA

By

Veronique Theriault, Wayne Jiang, Amadou Diarra, Steven Haggblade, Joseph Edmund, Joseph Ipou Ipou, and Abdramane Traore



#### Food Security Policy Research Papers

This *Research Paper* series is designed to timely disseminate research and policy analytical outputs generated by the USAID funded Feed the Future Innovation Lab for Food Security Policy (FSP) and its Associate Awards. The FSP project is managed by the Food Security Group (FSG) of the Department of Agricultural, Food, and Resource Economics (AFRE) at Michigan State University (MSU), and implemented in partnership with the International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI) and the University of Pretoria (UP). Together, the MSU-IFPRI-UP consortium works with governments, researchers and private sector stakeholders in Feed the Future focus countries in Africa and Asia to increase agricultural productivity, improve dietary diversity and build greater resilience to challenges like climate change that affect livelihoods.

The papers are aimed at researchers, policy makers, donor agencies, educators, and international development practitioners. Selected papers will be translated into French, Portuguese, or other languages.

Copies of all FSP Research Papers and Policy Briefs are freely downloadable in pdf format from the following Web site: https://www.canr.msu.edu/fsp/publications/

Copies of all FSP papers and briefs are also submitted to the USAID Development Experience Clearing House (DEC) at: <u>http://dec.usaid.gov/</u>

#### AUTHORS

**Veronique Theriault** (theria13@msu.edu) Associate Professor, Department of Agricultural, Food, and Resource Economics, Michigan State University, Justin S. Morrill Hall of Agriculture, 446 West Circle Dr., Rm 213-B, East Lansing, MI, USA, 48824.

Wayne Jiang (jiangwa@msu.edu) Associate Professor, Department of Entomology, Michigan State University, Michigan Biological Institution Building, 3815 Technology Blvd., Suite 1031B, Lansing, MI, USA, 48910.

Amadou Diarra (<u>diarraamadou947@gmail.com</u>) Agronomist, Independent Contractor, Bamako, Mali.

**Steven Haggblade** (blade@msu.edu) Professor, Department of Agricultural, Food, and Resource Economics, Michigan State University, Justin S. Morrill Hall of Agriculture, 446 West Circle Dr., Rm 219, East Lansing, MI, USA 48824.

Joseph Edmund (kweku\_orchard@yahoo.com) Acting Director, Chemicals Management Unit, Environmental Protection Agency, Starlet 91 Street, P. O. Box M 326, Accra, Ghana.

Joseph Ipou Ipou (ipoujosephi@gmail.com) Professor, Botany Laboratory, UFR Biosciences, University Felix Houphouët-Boigny, 22 BP 582 Abidjan 22, Côte d'Ivoire.

Abdramane Traore (<u>traoreabdramane01@gmail.com</u>) Senior Advisor to the Projet de Recherche sur les Politiques de Sécurité Alimentaire au Mali (PRePoSAM) of Michigan State University, based in Bamako, Mali.

#### Authors' Acknowledgment:

This work was supported by the United States Agency for International Development (USAID)'s Innovation Laboratory for Food Security Policy [AID-OAA-L-13-00001] and United States Department of Agriculture (USDA)'s Foreign Agricultural Service [FX18TA-10960R023]. The authors alone assume responsibility for any remaining errors of fact or interpretation.

This study is made possible by the generous support of the American people through the United States Agency for International Development (USAID) under the Feed the Future initiative. The contents are the responsibility of the study authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of USAID or the United States Government

Copyright © 2020, Michigan State University. All rights reserved. This material may be reproduced for personal and not-for-profit use without permission from but with acknowledgment to MSU.

Published by the Department of Agricultural, Food, and Resource Economics, Michigan State University, Justin S. Morrill Hall of Agriculture, 446 West Circle Dr., Room 202, East Lansing, Michigan 48824, USA

#### Abstract

Pesticide use has grown rapidly in West Africa over the past decade and a half. Yet regulatory capacity has not kept pace with the rapid proliferation of pesticide products and on farm use. As a result, health and environmental impacts from the growing use of pesticides, despite their potential importance, remain largely unmonitored, underreported, and poorly understood by key stakeholders. In this paper, we assemble new evidence on pesticide risks for human health by identifying the most critical emerging pesticide risks and key danger cropping zones in West Africa. We rely on a three-step approach to assess potential pesticide risks across Côte d'Ivoire, Ghana, and Mali. In 2019, expert panels assembled in each country independently identified three active ingredients -- chlorpyrifos, glyphosate, and paraquat -- as potential threats to human health and the environment. To monitor and mitigate the risks associated with the growing use of pesticides, local scientists consider it essential to establish a structure in charge of toxicovigilance to coordinate and harmonize pesticide monitoring efforts. Sentinel monitoring sites for each country are proposed.

#### Table of Contents

Abstract	iv
1. Introduction	1
2. Overview of pesticide risks in the three case study countries	3
2.1. Human health risks from ingestion of pesticides and pesticide residues in foods	4
2.2. Farmer exposure	5
2.3. Environmental impacts	5
3. Methods for risk assessment	6
4. Empirical assessment of pesticide risks	
4.1. Arid Sahelian zone (Mali)	
4.2. Humid coastal zone (Côte d'Ivoire, Ghana)	9
4.2.1 Côte d'Ivoire	9
4.2.1 Ghana	11
4.3. Common pesticide threats	12
5. Priorities moving forward	15
References	17
Appendix 1- Literature Search on Pesticide Risks in Three West African Countries	21
Côte d'Ivoire	21
Ghana	
Mali	23
Appendix 2	
Table A1. Qualitative risk assessment - Mali	
Appendix 3:	
Table A2. Qualitative Risk Assessment – Côte d'Ivoire	
Appendix 4	
Table A3. Qualitative Risk Assessment Ghana	

#### List of Tables

Table 1. Summary of published literature on pesticide risks in three West African countries	3
Table 2. Active ingredients rated severe or high by two or more countries 1	3
Table 3. Priorities for pesticide monitoring1	5

## List of Figures

Figure 1. Trends in pesticide imports into West Africa (millions of US dollars, 3-year centered moving	g
averages))	1
Figure 2. Conception of the risk assessment matrix	7
Figure 3. Qualitative Risk Assessment Matrix Mali	9
Figure 4. Qualitative Risk Assessment Matrix Côte d'Ivoire	11
Figure 5. Qualitative Risk Assessment Matrix Ghana	12

#### 1. Introduction

In West Africa, application rates of pesticide are low but growing fast. From 2000/05 to 2014/18, pesticide use increased by 177% in West Africa compared to 30% worldwide (FAOSTAT 2019). Despite rapid growth in pesticide use over the past decade and a half, the enforcement and monitoring capacity of regulatory systems have not kept pace (Figure 1). As a result, roughly one-third of pesticides sold in West Africa are fraudulent (Haggblade et al. 2019; MirPlus 2012). Fraudulent pesticides refer to both counterfeit and unregistered generic products. Farmers raise frequent concerns about potential under-dosing and adulteration (Ashour et al. 2018; Assima et al. 2017; Haggblade et al. 2017a). Regulators and public health officials, likewise, fear that the combination of rising volumes, mishandling, and uncertain quality may pose growing risks to human health and the environment.



# Figure 1. Trends in pesticide imports into West Africa (millions of US dollars, 3-year centered moving averages))

Source: Authors based on data from FAOSTAT (2019).

The initial spurt in West Africa's pesticide volumes occurred between 2005 to 2015, driven by rapidly growing on farm demand for low-cost, generic herbicides in the face of rising rural wage rates in many locations (Luna 2020; Haggblade et al. 2017b). As that first wave of herbicide-induced pesticide growth plateaus, plant protection specialists anticipate a second surge in pesticide use, this time driven by major recent insect infestations. The Fall Armyworm, inadvertently introduced into West Africa from the America's in 2016, has now spread throughout the continent, posing serious threats in major cereal-producing zones (FAO 2019; Tambo et al. 2020). More recently, in 2019, abnormally wet weather conditions have induced a serious desert locust outbreak in Eastern Africa. Early responses, by farmers and plant protection agencies, involve increased applications of highly toxic insecticides (Murray et al. 2019). As a result, the second wave of increased pesticide use will

likely involve more highly toxic classes of pesticides than the first wave. Hence the importance of identifying and monitoring the most serious potential risks.

There are risk trade-offs in pesticide use and regulation. The bans of some pesticide products to reduce pesticide-related risks to consumers and farmers can lead to increase use of substitute pesticides, with varying level of toxicity and income losses due to increased yield damage (Gray and Hammitt 200). Overuse of pesticides as well as under-dosage of pesticides can lead to pest resistance and, thereby, to yield damage and income losses (Varah et al. 2019; Haggblade 2020). Yield damage due to pests and diseases remain a major threat for agriculture and food security in the region. In the early 2000s, before the first wave of pesticide use, actual yield losses to pests were estimated at 19% for maize and 51% for rice in West Africa (Oerke 2006). The use of pesticide has allowed to increase crop productivity by minimize yield damage due to pests and diseases.

Despite the potential risks to health and the environment, the rising use of pesticide remains largely unmonitored, underreported, and poorly understood by key stakeholders, such as policymakers, farmers and consumers. In this paper, we aim to bring new evidence on pesticide risks for human health and the environment by identifying the most critical emerging pesticide risks and key danger cropping zones in West Africa. While many prior pesticide risk studies have focused on the impact of banned pesticides applied decades earlier, this study aims to look forward to identify the active ingredients likely to pose the most serious potential risks during the current ongoing surge in pesticide use throughout the region (Kouadio et al. 2014; Manda et al. 2017; Maïga et al. 2018). This assessment of key pesticide risks in West Africa focuses on three countries -- Côte d'Ivoire, Ghana and Mali – which we consider representative of the full range of cropping and agroclimatic systems found in the region. This selection builds on a recent inventory and on-site assessments of pesticide testing laboratories across West Africa by duBois (2019) and Jiang et al. (2019), through which the study team was able to establish scientific collaboration with key scientists working on these issues. The case study countries are major agricultural producers in the region. Together they transect the region from north to south, spanning the full range of agroclimatic and cropping systems common throughout the region, from the dry Sahelian zone of Mali to the humid tropical coastal zones of Côte d'Ivoire and Ghana.

We rely on mixed methods. First, we review previous scientific work on pesticide risks in the three case studies. Second, we conduct a qualitative risk assessment with a panel of experts in each country following a three-step procedure: a) identification of high risk active ingredients contained in pesticide products available in the market, utilizing information on imported volume and consumption; b) completion of a risk assessment matrix in each country, which scores the probability of exposure and severity if exposed to an active ingredient in order to identify the most critical emerging pesticide risks; c) identification of three potentially high-risk zones in each country in light of the qualitative risk assessment results as well as previous scientific work on pesticide risks.

The paper is organized as follows. Section 2 reviews prior empirical work on this topic. Section 3 describes the risk assessment matrix, which was developed to analyze pesticide use risks while section 4 summarizes key empirical results from this three-country study. The paper concludes by discussing key regional hot spots for monitoring.

#### 2. Overview of pesticide risks in the three case study countries

The available published literature on pesticide risks in West Africa, though episodic and intermittent, offers potentially valuable initial insights into the areas of greatest expressed concern among African scientists and the funding agencies who have financed their work. Reviews by Jepson et al. (2014), Donkor et al. (2016), Manda et al. (2017) and Ingenbleek et al. (2019) help to focus and amplify issues of particular concern.

The ensuing summary relies on an English language search of the terms "pesticide risk" in Côte d'Ivoire, Ghana and Mali plus a French language search of "risques pesticides" in the same three case study countries using Google Scholar. In total, these searches yielded 52 published works, 16 to 20 per country over the past 20 years (Table 1 and appendix). Since approximately a dozen of the studies examine multiple risk pathways (impacts on water and soil, for example), the total number of risks examined and classified in Table 1 totals 65, exceeding the total number of studies by 13. Overall, the pesticide risks investigated by these studies fall into the three main categories outlined below.

· •	Côte d'Ivoire	Ghana	Mali	Total
Human health risks				50
Consumers				31
Food-borne pesticide residues				
Vegetables & fruits	3	11		14
Fish	1	2		3
Milk	2		1	3
Cereals		2		2
Other foods	2		1	3
Direct consumption				
Acute poisoning	1		5	6
Farmers				19
Cotton	4		6	10
Vegetables	6	1		7
Irrigated rice		1	1	2
Environmental risks				15
Water	3	2	4	9
Soil	1	1	2	4
Non-target species				
Mammals			1	1
Insects	1			1
Publications				
Impact citations	16	20	16	52
Total publications	24	20	21	65
	•			

Table 1. Summary of published literature on pesticide risks in three West African countries

Source: Authors

Note: See the annex for a full listing of the literature summarized in this table.

#### 2.1. Human health risks from ingestion of pesticides and pesticide residues in foods

A preponderance of published studies on pesticide risks focuses on human health risks from foodborne pesticide residues. Roughly, half of the published studies (31 out of 65) examine consumer risks from oral intake of pesticides or pesticide residues in foods (Table 1).

Across food commodities, horticultural products have attracted the greatest concern as vehicles for introducing pesticide active ingredients into human diets. About 48% of the consumer-intake studies (14 out of 31) focus on fresh vegetables and fruits. All of these took place in the two coastal countries of Côte d'Ivoire and Ghana, where higher humidity, greater prevalence of fungal diseases, larger cities and widespread peri-urban horticulture exacerbate consumer risks.

Environmental pressure from heavy pest loads combines with economic pressure on farmers to intensify production on increasingly expensive peri-urban land to increase pesticide use. In these conditions, horticulture producers apply high levels of pesticides – primarily fungicides and insecticides – to control a wide array of pests. In the locations studied, over 90% of horticultural producers applied pesticides. Studies that examined pesticide registration status find that many of the pesticides most commonly applied to horticulture crops were either unregistered or registered for cotton (Soro et al. 2018; Tano et al. 2011) or for other non-horticultural crops (Tiembre et al. 2016; Ntow et al. 2006). Active ingredients most frequently detected in horticultural products include chlorpyrifos, cypermethrin, endosulfan, endrin, heptachlor and lambda-cyhalothrin (Donkor et al. 2016; Yao 2016; Ingenbleeka et al. 2019). Exposure levels, however, vary significantly across study sites. A review of pesticide risks in horticultural crops in Ghana concludes that children, because of their lower body weight and higher hazard indices, constitute the population group at greatest risk (Donkor et al. 2016).

Another one-third of the consumer-based studies (11/31) report pesticide residue levels in a range of other foods, including fish, milk, cereals, and other foods. Many of these studies focus on organochlorine pesticide residues remaining in the environment and food system from prior decades of public health campaigns against malaria, emergency spraying to contain locust invasions and concentrated spraying to control pests among key cash crops, such as cotton, cocoa and coffee, with highly toxic and now-outlawed classes of persistent organic pollutants (POPs).<sup>1</sup> Indeed, a series of studies has detected organochlorines, such as DDT and endosulfan in fish, milk and other dairy products, even in human breast milk (Kouadio et al. 2014; Maïga et al. 2018, Manda et al. 2017, Traore et al. 2003, 2008). Most studies, though not all, detect pesticide levels below safety thresholds specified by international maximum residue limits (MRLs). Nonetheless, risk of bioaccumulation makes them potential long-term health hazards, which continue to attract interest by scientists in the region (Kouadio et al. 2014).

Methods used in these food residue studies rely on food sampling protocols followed by pesticide residue testing using liquid or gas chromatography, depending on the active ingredients studied and the equipment available locally.

Unlike the coastal zones, in the more arid Sahelian climate of Mali, pesticide risks to consumers surface primarily in a handful of studies (5/31) that examine causes of acute poisonings based on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Stockholm Convention classifies seven pesticides as POPS: aldrin, chlordane, DDT, dieldrin, endrin, heptachlor, hexachlorobenzene, mirex and toxaphene.

case records from hospitals and clinics. In general, these studies find pesticide poisoning from direct ingestion to be rare, accounting for only 2% to 5% of total reported poisonings (Diallo et al. 2013, 2016). Rather than pesticides, the most frequent sources of poisonings stem from direct ingestion of medicines and industrial acids. Typically, these incident reports point to accidental poisonings among children, though sometimes intentional among adults (Coulibaly et al. 2018; Diallo et al. 2013). Attempted suicides (mostly among women) most frequently rely on medicines such as chloroquine or industrial products such as hydrochloric acid (Diallo et al. 2013).<sup>2</sup>

#### 2.2. Farmer exposure

A further approximately 30% of published pesticide risk studies (19/65) examine on-farm risks faced by producers from inhalation or dermal exposure during spraying. Cotton dominates among these studies, particularly in Mali and in the arid northern regions of Côte d'Ivoire, accounting for 10 out of 19 such studies. Parastatal cotton companies have promoted cotton production across West Africa for well over 50 years. Given cotton's high vulnerability to insect attacks -- from bollworm, various mites and caterpillars -- extension staff teach cotton farmers to scout pests daily and to spray, depending on pest load, five to six times per season (Michel et al. 2000). To combat pest resistance, the cotton ginning companies supply input packs including an evolving cocktail of insecticides (Tefft 2010).

Horticultural products come in a close second, accounting for 7 out of the 19 farmer-based pesticide risk studies. A final pair of reviews (2/19) has focused on irrigated rice, typically a high input operation given moderate to good water control, which favors crop responsiveness to fertilizer and other inputs.

Methods used in the farmer-focused risk studies typically center on farm interviews, to assess standard behavior and environmental conditions. The studies then apply these exposure parameters to various simulation models to estimate anticipated dermal and pulmonary exposure (see Jepson et al. 2014 for good examples of this approach).

#### 2.3. Environmental impacts

The remaining pesticide studies (15/65) examine environmental impacts of pesticide use. Mostly, these deal with pesticide runoff in surface and ground water (9/15) but also in soil (4/15) and in non-target mammals and insects (2/15). Given the absence of piped drinking water in many rural settings, surface and groundwater contamination significantly amplifies the danger of pesticide exposure for human consumers. As a result, the bulk of these studies of the environmental impact of pesticide use have focused on pesticide residues in water. Most of these studies test for traces of highly toxic pesticides used decades earlier to combat malaria and severe locust incursions with now-illegal organochlorines such as DDT, endosulfan and endrin. Fat solubility of these POPs leads to bioaccumulation in the food chain, most commonly in dairy products and in fish (Maïga et al. 2018; Kouadio et al. 2014; Manda et al. 2017; Traore et al. 2003, 2008). Looking forward, given continued widespread pesticide applications in cash cropping zones and growing levels of peri-urban horticultural production in close proximity to urban water supplies, potential downstream effects on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In contrast, Asian countries frequently report highly toxic pesticides – such as the herbicide paraquat or the insecticide endrin – as the leading method of suicide in China, India, Sri Lanka and South Korea (Myung et al. 2015, WHO 2019, Matthews 2018).

drinking water and aquatic life compound the potential risk of pesticide exposure among urban consumers.<sup>3</sup>

As with the food-based MRL studies, methods used in these environmental studies rely on sampling protocols for the affected matrix (soil, water or non-target species) followed by laboratory analysis using liquid or gas chromatography, depending on the active ingredients studied and the equipment available locally.

#### 3. Methods for risk assessment

In contrast to the EPA four step risk assessment (EPA 2020a) that measures the harmful effects to human health and/or the environment from exposure to a stressor (e.g., active ingredient), our three-step risk assessment takes into consideration scientific knowledge to come up with a collective appreciation of potential risks. It is a qualitative assessment of pesticide risks that leverages on secondary data analysis rather than information obtained in the course of laboratory and/or field testing.

In collaboration with pesticide experts from Côte d'Ivoire, Ghana, and Mali, the authors organized workshops to identify and prioritize key risks on human health and the environment from pesticide use. These risk assessment workshops followed a three-step process. First, the identification of key pesticide products available in the market that are considered high risks. Second, a risk matrix is used to evaluate the level of risk of the active ingredients found in key pesticide products identified in the first step. Both the probability of exposure and the severity of impact on health if exposed to the active ingredients are considered. Third, utilizing findings from steps 1 and 2, sentinel sites for further monitoring are proposed.

These risk assessment workshops took place in Bamako, Mali in June 2019, in Abidjan, Côte d'Ivoire in June 2019 and in Accra, Ghana during August 2019.<sup>4</sup> Following the country-level risk assessment workshops, the team has compared and contrasted findings to identify common threats as well as location-specific particularities.

#### Step 1 - Identification of key pesticide products.

We assembled a panel of experts composed of regulators, toxicologists, chemists, pharmacists, agronomists, representatives of the national companies for export crops (i.e., cotton, cocoa, and banana) and the private sector (i.e., CropLife). Each expert was asked to identify up to ten pesticide

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Under *Codex Alimantirus* guidelines, foodborne risks include plants, animals and prepared or packaged beverages. Thus, bottled water is considered a food, but not open-source drinking water. Though not formally classified as a food, contaminated drinking water nonetheless poses a potential human health risk to the many households who rely on surface and well water for drinking, washing and food preparation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Côte d'Ivoire expert workshop, hosted by the Centre d'Excellence Africain pour le Changement Climatique, la Biodiversité et l'Agriculture Durable (CEA-CCBAD) at the Université Félix Houphouët-Boigny, included 15 pesticide specialists from 13 local institutions including AMEPHCI, CEA-CCBAD, CNRA, Croplife, DPVCQ, INHP, INPHB, INSP-IPRN, Lanada, MSU, PROGEPCI, SECI, and IPR/IMSP. The Ghana expert workshop, hosted by the Ghana Environmental Protection Agency, included 13 pesticide specialists representing 10 local institutions NBT, Croplife, EPA, Splendid Agro Products, Ghana Standards Authority, Cocoa Research Institute, Jack-Vestper Co., University of Cape Coast, MSU, Ghana Health Service, Macrofertil Ghana and University of Ghana, Legon. The Mali expert workshop, hosted by MSU's Projet de Recherche sur les Politiques Alimentaires du Mali (PREPOSAM), included 15 pesticide specialists representing 8 local institutions, including LNS, INSRP, CMDT, LCV, OPV, Croplife, PEPPO and University of Ségou.

active ingredients contained in products available in the market that she/he considered as high risks for human health. In addition, information on whether the product has been authorized for use in the country, type (e.g., herbicide, insecticide) as well as the crops and zones where it is being applied was collected. During the workshop, the panel of experts had the opportunity to present, discuss, revise their choices and come up with a consensus rating used to develop the risk matrix and identify hot zones.

#### Step 2- Risk Assessment.

A matrix that allows assessing the risk of active ingredients in key pesticides identified in step 1 was developed. This matrix takes into account the probability of exposure to the active ingredient contained in the pesticide product and the severity if exposed to it (Figure 2).

The probability of exposure to the active ingredient is evaluated on a 0 to 5 scale (0 = null, 1 = unlikely, 2 = seldom, 3 = occasional, 4 = likely, 5 = frequent). The score takes into account the availability of pesticide products containing the active ingredient in the market and the number of users.

The severity if exposed to the active ingredient is also measured on a scale of 0 to 5 (0 =null, 1 = negligible, 2 = mild, 3 = moderate, 4 = high, 5 = extremely high). The product hazard, which refers to the level of toxicity of the product as classified by the World Health Organization (WHO 2020a), and conditions of use are both taken into consideration in the severity measurement.

The calculated risk is the product of the probability of exposure and the severity if exposed. There are five level of risks; null, low, medium, high, and severe. A pesticide product with a negligible (=1) level of toxicity and that is unlikely to be used (=1) has a low risk. Extremely toxic pesticide products (=5) used frequently (=5) have severe risk. The multiplication of the probability and severity scores gives us the level of risk, which ranges from 0 to 25.

	a) Probability of Exposure									
b) Severity if										
exposed	Null	Unlikely	Seldom	Occasional	Likely	Frequent				
Null	Null									
Negligeable		Low								
Mild			Medium							
Moderate				High						
High					Severe					
Extremely high										

*Figure 2. Conception of the risk assessment matrix* Source: Authors.

Note: Risk scores: null = 0; low= [1,2], medium= [3,6]. High [8-12], severe=[15-25].

#### Step 3- Identification of hot spots for monitoring.

Using the information collected in the previous steps, the panel identified three potentially high-risk zones and ways to monitor them.

#### 4. Empirical assessment of pesticide risks

Key findings from the risk assessment matrix per country are presented and discussed in light of relevant data and scientific literature on pesticide use and risks. Then, we compare the pesticide risk ratings for active ingredients rated "severe" or "high" across countries and discuss those that pose the most serious threats to human health and the environment in the West Africa region.

#### 4.1. Arid Sahelian zone (Mali)

Most of the thirty-three active ingredients identified by the group of Malian experts belong to four chemical families: organophosphates, pyrethroids, organo-chlorines and carbamates (Table A1 in appendix). Three active ingredients were identified as posing potentially severe risks to human health and the environment in Mali: chlorpyrifos, glyphosate, and carbosulfan (Figure 3).

Although chlorpyrifos and glyphosate are not the most toxic active ingredients, farmers use them widely and without protective equipment. According to Haggblade et al. (2019), glyphosate is by far the most commonly used active ingredient, accounting for over half of all herbicide volume sold and 38% of total pesticide volumes sold. Among insecticides, chlorpyrifos is the third most commonly used insecticide active ingredient after lambda-cyhalothrin and acetamiprid, accounting for approximately 11% of all insecticide volume sold. Both, chlorpyrifos and glyphosate, belong to the organophosphate family and can cause severe skin and eye irritation (PPDB 2016). Chlorpyrifos is known as a cholinesterase inhibitor. It is recommended that farmers who have used pesticide products containing this active ingredient for a long time to periodically check the level of cholinesterase in their blood. If the level of cholinesterase in their blood is low, then farmers should stop applying these products for at least one cropping season. (Cissé et al. 1993).

Given that Malian farmers do not wear protective equipment during pesticide application, their skin, eyes, and respiratory tract are exposed to pesticides. Therefore, pesticides that are dangerous for the skin, eyes, and respiratory tract are considered as risky by the Malian panel of experts. Chlorpyrifos and glyphosate were scored as having a high probability of exposure and a high severity of impact due to the high number of users and lack of safety practices. Although carbosulfan (carbamate family) is banned due to its high toxicity, it is still possible to purchase it in the market under the commercial name FURADAN (Haggblade et al., 2019) and, therefore, was identified as posing severe risks.

Three other active ingredients identified by the panel of experts as high risks are available in the market albeit not authorized: atrazine, endosulfan, and paraquat. Endosulfan (organochlorine family), is not authorized for sale by the Sahelian Pesticide Committee (known in French as Comite Sahelien des Pesticide "CSP") but can be found in the market (Haggblade et al., 2019). Carbofuran, which is an insecticide and nematicide, is also not approved for use in the European Union. It is highly toxic to mammals, birds, and honeybees and is known as an endocrine disruptor and a probable reproduction/development intoxicant (PPDB 2016). Endosulfan is banned for use in agriculture under international conventions, such as the Stockholm Convention, and is listed among the Persistent Organic Pollutants.

After comparing the list of active ingredients identified by the experts and the list of pesticide products available in the market (Haggblade et al. 2019), we find that approximately 1/3 of the active ingredients are not authorized for sale by the CSP (Table A1 in appendix), which raises concern for public health and the environment. Among the unregistered products, approximately 5% come from Ghana, 2% from Côte d'Ivoire and the remaining 19% come from unknown sources (Haggblade et al 2019).

The most frequent pesticide family identified by the experts, as posing high risk, is pyrethroid (Table A1 in appendix). Most pyrethroids can have an effect on the respiratory tract, is irritant for the skin and eye and is harmful if swallowed (PPDB 2016). Some of them can have an effect on the immune system and are a thyroid toxicant (PPDB 2016. Insecticide products containing the active ingredients lambda-cyhalothrin and acetamiprid were considered as high-risk.

			a) Probabili	ty of Exposure		
b) Severity if Exposed	Null	Unlikely	Seldom	Occasional	Likely	Frequent
Null	Null					
Negligeable		Low				
Mild			Medium			
Moderate			Diuron Profenolos	<b>High</b> Bensulfuron methyl Pendimethalin Permethrin	Cypermetrin Deltamethrin Haloxyfop-R-Methyl Lambda Cyhalothrin Nicosulfuron	Glyphosate
High		Fentrothion Fenthion	Propanil	2,4-D Aluminium phosphide Atrazine Imidaeloprid Thiram	Severe Chlorpyrifos	
Extremely high	Aldrin Dieldrin Endrin Heptachlor	Lindane Malathion	Acetamiprid Carbofuran Paraquat	Carbosulfan		

## Figure 3. Qualitative Risk Assessment Matrix Mali

Source: Authors.

Note: Risk scores: null = 0; low= [1,2], medium= [3,6]. High [8-12], severe=[15-25].

#### 4.2. Humid coastal zone (Côte d'Ivoire, Ghana)

#### 4.2.1 Côte d'Ivoire

Out of 46 active ingredients identified by the panel of experts in Côte d'Ivoire, 24 insecticides, 11 in herbicides and 11 in fungicides (Table A2 in appendix). Among the insecticides, chlorpyrifos was identified as posing severe risks to human health and the environment (Figure 4). It is widely used

on cotton, maize, fruit trees to kill insects (adults and larvae) and the residues of chlorpyrifos are persistent on food crops. High dose exposure to chlorpyrifos can lead to acute poisoning while low dose long-term exposure can affect reproduction adversely. Among the herbicides, glyphosate and 2,4-D were considered to pose the greatest potential risk to human health and the environment due to their widespread use. As in Mali, glyphosate is the most commonly used herbicide, accounting for roughly two-third of all pesticide import volume in Côte d'Ivoire, following far behind by 2,4-D (roughly 10% of pesticide import volume) (Traore and Haggblade 2017). Among the fungicides, the active ingredient, metalaxyl, was identified as severe risk due it high probability of exposure and high severity if exposed.

Other high risks active ingredients in insecticides include imidacloprid, acetamiprid, and profenofos, which account for approximately 31%, 13%, and 8% of insecticide import volume (DPVQC 2017). Among the fungicides, mancozeb, which is the second most imported active ingredient in fungicides (DPVQC 2017), along with maneb, zineb, dimethomorph were ranked as high risks for human health and the environment in Côte d'Ivoire. The probability of exposure is likely, even frequent due to their relatively widespread use and lack of protective equipment for farmers.

Although the severity if directly exposed to DDT is relatively high, the probability of exposure is null, according to the group of experts, since DDT is prohibited and not available in the market in Côte d'Ivoire.

		a) Probability of Exposure										
b) Severity if Exposed	Null	Unlikely	Seldom	Occasional	Likely	Frequent						
Null	Null											
Negligeable		<b>Low</b> Clothianidin Prochloraz novaluron				Thianetoxam Cypermethrin Lambda-cyladothrin Bifenthrin Detamethrin Cyphenothrin						
Mild			Medium Carbosulfuran									
Moderate		TCMB Pyraclostrobin		High Triclopyr Cycloxydeim Propanil Pyrazosulfuron Diuron Haloxyfop-R-Methyl Nicosulfuron Cupric oxide Triadimenol		Glyphosate						
High	Malathion Fenitrothion Fenthion Diniconazole	Turbolos Temephos Piriphos Methyl	Profenofos Paraquat		Severe Chlorpyriphos Metalaxyl M	2,4 D						
Extremely high	P,P-DDT Aldicarb											

Figure 4. Qualitative Risk Assessment Matrix Côte d'Ivoire Source: Authors.

Note: Risk scores: null = 0; low = [1,2]; medium = [3,6]; High = [8-12], severe = [15-25].

#### 4.2.1 Ghana

In Ghana, the panel of experts identified twelve active ingredients they deemed to pose danger to human health and the environment, which is fewer than in Mali and Côte d'Ivoire (Table A3 in appendix). Among the list, three active ingredients were identified as posing severe risks: paraquat, lambda-cyhalothrin, and chlorpyrifos (Figure 5).

Given its widespread use by farmers to kill weeds, the probability of exposure to paraquat is likely in Ghana and the severity of exposure is high, since it is exceedingly toxic to human and moderately to highly toxic to many species (Kamel 2013; Pezzoli and Cereda 2013; EXTOXNET<sup>5</sup> 1993). Although being sold in Ghana, paraquat is one of the pesticides banned for use in the European Union (Gunnell et al. 2017). It remains one of the most widely used herbicide in the USA (EPA 2020b).

Both active ingredients in insecticides, lambda-cyhalothrin and chlorpyrifos, were identified as posing high risks to human health and the environment, Chlorpyrifos can be harmful to humans if it is touched, inhaled, or eaten and is very toxic to many species of birds, fish, and bees (NPIC 2010).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> A Pesticide Information Project of Cooperative Extension Offices of Cornell University, Michigan State University, Oregon State University, and University of California at Davis.

The effects of lambda-cyhalothrin on human health and the environment was considered severe since it is widely used by farmers.



### Figure 5. Qualitative Risk Assessment Matrix Ghana

Source: Authors.

Note: Risk scores: null = 0; low = [1,2]; medium = [3,6]; High = [8-12], severe = [15-25].

#### 4.3. Common pesticide threats

Table 2 summarizes the pesticide risk rating for active ingredients rated severe or high by two or more countries. Across the three West African countries, chlorpyrifos, glyphosate, and paraquat were unanimously listed as potential threats to human health and the environment. The second group of pesticides causing threat to human health and the environment and nominated by at least 2 countries were 2,4-D, lambda-cyhalothrin, aluminium phosphide, atrazine, haloxyfop-R-methyl, nicosulfuron, and imidacloprid. Unlike in Mali and Cote d'Ivoire, imidacloprid was ranked as medium risk in Ghana.

Active ingredient	a) Probability of exposure		b) Seve	b) Severity if exposed			c) Risk = a) * b)			
	Mali	CI	Ghana	Mali	CI	Ghana	Mali	CI	Ghana	Average score
All three countries										
Chlorpyrifos	4	4	3	4	4	4	16	16	12	15
Glyphosate	5	5	4	3	3	2	15	15	8	13
Paraquat	2	2	4	5	4	4	10	8	16	11
2,4-D	3	5		4	4		12	20		16
Two country "severe" of ratings	r "high"									
Lambda cyhalothrin	4	5	3	3		4	12	20	12	12
Aluminum phosphide	3		2	4		5	12		10	11
Atrazin	3	2		4	4		12	8		10
Haloxyfop-R Methyl	4	4		3	2		12	8		10
Nicosulfuron	4	4		3	2		12	8		10
Imidacloprid	3	5	2	4	2	2	12	10	4	9

Table 2. Active ingredients rated severe or high by two or more countries.

Source: Authors.

Table 3 outlines the priorities for pesticide monitoring based on the three active ingredients independently identified by the panels of experts in each country: chlorpyrifos, glyphosate, and paraquat. The main routes of exposure identified for most of the pesticide products containing those active ingredients were dermal and inhalation. Oral exposure was considered the least likely. Being less aware of potential health risks related to pesticide use and less likely to use integrated pest management techniques, women's exposure to pesticides is greater than for men in Mali and Ghana (Christie et al. 2015).

Chlorpyrifos is one of the most widely used insecticide and acaricide used to control foliage pests in agriculture. Being highly toxic by ingestion, its extensive use on fruit and vegetable crops has led to growing concern of potential risk for consumers from residues in Ghana, both among our panel of experts and prior published literature (Donkor et al. 2016; Amoah et al., 2006). The widespread use of chlorpyrifos in the cotton farming zones of Mali threatens plants and non-target pest species as well as the health of farmers who are exposed to it through their skin and/or inhalation. Likewise, chlorpyrifos is extensively used on cash crops, such as cotton, cocoa, coconut, and palm oil, exposing farming communities to toxic pesticides.

Glyphosate is a broad-spectrum non-selective herbicide used in a wide range of crops to control annual and perennial weeds. It is also known to cause skin and eye irritation. Despite being of low toxicity, glyphosate was unanimously identified as posing a severe or high risk in all three countries due to its widespread use on all crops; food and cash crops alike. The experts are concerned about the pervasive use of glyphosate in the food system and water. The increasing demand for glyphosate had led to the proliferation of fraudulent products of uneven quality and uncertain effects of human health and the environment (Haggblade et al. 2019).

Unlike in Ghana, the active ingredients paraquat and/or atrazine are not authorized for use in Cote d'Ivoire and Mali. Despite being unauthorized, products containing paraquat and atrazine have been found in the market of these two countries (Haggblade et al. 2019; Traore and Haggblade 2018; Chouaïbou et al. 2016). This highlights issues with the regulatory enforcement in those countries (Diarra and Haggblade 2017). Paraquat has been banned in several countries worldwide, since it is extremely toxic and has been too often used for self-poisoning (Myung et al. 2015, WHO 2019, Matthews 2018; Kim et al. 2017). National bans on hazardous pesticides, such as paraquat, have been found effective in reducing suicides by pesticide poisoning (Gunnell et al. 2017). Of course, the effectiveness of such bans is conditional on the regulation being enforced.

Active	Toxicity	Crops	Vulnerable	Rationale for priority
ingredient			populations	monitoring
	Moderate	Mali: Cotton.	Farmers	Widespread and
Chlorpyrifos	toxicity	CI: Cotton,	(dermal, eye,	growing use on
		cocoa, coconut,	spray	horticultural and cash
		palm oil.	inhalation) <sup>6</sup> .	crops.
		Ghana:	Pregnant rural	Broad potential
		horticultural	women and	exposure to farming
		crops.	fetuses.	communities, children
			Consumers.	and urban consumers.
Glyphosate	Low acute	Mali: All crops.	Farmers	Ubiquitous use.
	toxicity	CI: All crops.	(dermal,	Likely low short-term
	Possible	Ghana: All	pulmonary	health risk.
	(though	crops.	inhalation)	Single best AI for
	contested)		Consumers	tracking pesticide
	long-term		(food residues).	prevalence in food and
	cancer risks <sup>7</sup> .			water supplies.
Paraquat	High human	Mali: Not	Farmers	Banned in many
	toxicity;	authorized.	(dermal, eye,	countries due to its
		CI: Not	pulmonary	extreme toxicity.
		authorized.	inhalation).	Common use in West
		Ghana:	Widespread use	Africa despite bans in
		Plantation	for suicides in	CI and Mali.
		crops, cassava,	Asia.	Monitoring offers
		and cereals.		prospects for assessing
				both human health risk
				and fraudulent pesticide
				networks.

Table 3. Priorities for pesticide monitoring

Source: Authors. Note: CI= Cote d'Ivoire

#### 5. Priorities moving forward

There was an overwhelming consensus among the groups of experts that health and environmental protocols need to be better implemented and more strictly enforced. Among the recommendations are conducting more assessments of the best treatment options for different forms of pesticide poisoning and training more farmers, via extension services, on pesticide use and their related risks. This includes how to recognize fraudulent pesticides on the market, how to properly use and store pesticides, and how to dispose safely of old pesticide containers.

With regard to pesticide monitoring, local pesticide specialists consider the establishment of a list of pesticide products and structures in charge of toxicovigilance<sup>8</sup> essential to mitigate the risks

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Farmer dermal exposure exceeds recommended health limits (Jepson et al. 2014:9)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> See Agostini et al. (2020) for a review of the effects of glyphosate on human cell lines and overall human health.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> According to the WHO, "toxicovigilance is the active process of identifying and evaluating the toxic risks existing in a community, and evaluating the measures taken to reduce or eliminate them. It involves the analysis of poisons centre enquiries to identify whether there are specific circumstances or agents giving rise to

associated with the growing use of pesticides. The idea of setting up a toxicovigilance structure in the region has been on the table since 2002 (Cissé 2012). As of today, no administrative guide has been developed to improve the identification, evaluation, and implementation of measures to reduce toxic risks from pesticide use in West African communities.

This study is based on active ingredients taken alone while pesticide products sold in the markets in the three countries contain often more than one active ingredient. Manufacturers formulate pesticide products containing several active ingredients in order to manage several crop pest types, which in turn, can reduce the number of applications. The combination of several active ingredients in the same pesticide product has led regulators to draw up a list of pesticide products for monitoring in order to raise farmers awareness on the effects of these products on human health and the environment.

Based on the results from the identification of risky products, in term of active ingredients, available in the market and the risk assessment, each group of experts reflected on the establishment of sentinel monitoring sites. In Mali, the three "hot spots" proposed for future monitoring are: 1) Cotton production basin, where cotton is grown in rotation with maize, sorghum, and millet; 2) Office du Niger, where irrigated rice is grown during the rainy and the dry season and horticultural crops during the dry season; 3) Office du Périmètre Irrigué de Baguineda, where irrigated rice is grown during the rainy season and horticultural crops during the dry season. These are the zones where most of the pesticide products (insecticides, herbicides, and fungicides) are used.

In Côte d'Ivoire, the three hot spots are: 1) Cotton producing basin in the northern zone, where pesticides are widely applied on plots; 2) Cocoa plantation in the southern half of the country, where herbicides and fungicides are widely used and; 3) Peri-urban area of Abidjan, where large quantities of pesticides are applied to plots allocated to horticultural crops, maize, and irrigated rice.

In Ghana, the three hot spots are: 1) Derma in the Brong North region; 2) Akomadan in the Ashanti region and 3) and Begoro in the Eastern region. These farming communities are considered as hot spots due to the intensive use of pesticides, especially on horticultural crops.

In those hot spots, the risks of water and soil pollution as well as humans and livestock poisoning from pesticide use are considered very high. Through a validated toxicovigilance program, the risks of pesticide poisoning due to inappropriate application practices, poor packaging and inadequate storage as well as pesticide residue in food would be better monitored and regulations would be enforced to reduce or eliminate toxic risks to the environment and human health.

Moving forward, a legally and recognized toxicovigilance system is needed to ensure that pesticides available in the markets are those approved for sale and use by a government agency

poisoning, or certain populations suffering a higher incidence of poisoning. Toxicovigilance can also reveal whether there is an emerging toxicological problem resulting from, for example, the reformulation of a product or a change to its packaging or labelling, the availability of a new drug of abuse, or an environmental contamination" (WHO 2020b).

and facilitates data collection and sharing regarding pesticide risks with regulators and public health officials at the country and regional levels.

#### References

- Agostini, L.P., Dettogni, R.S., dos Reis, R.S., Stur, E., V.W. dos Santos, E., Ventorim, D.P., Garcia, F.M., Cardoso, R.C., Graceli, J.B., Louro, I.D. 2020. Effects of glyphosate exposure on human health: Insights fromepidemiological and in vitro studies. Science of Total Environment 705(2020) 135808. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.135808
- Amoah, P., Drechsel, P., Abaidoo, R.C., and Ntow, W.J. 2006. Pesticide and pathogen contamination of vegetables in Ghana's urban markets. *Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, 50:1–6.
- Ashour, M, Gilligan, D., Blumer, Hoel, J., Karachiwalla, N.I. 2018. Do beliefs about herbicide quality correspond with actual quality in local markets? Evidence from Uganda. *Journal of Development Studies*, 55,1285–1306.
- Assima, A., Keita, N. and Kergna, A. 2017. Restitution des résultats de recherche aux producteurs. Feed the Future Innovation Lab Research Paper No.39. East Lansing, Michigan: Michigan State University.
- Christie, M.E., Houweling, E.V., and Zseleczky. 2015. Mapping gendered pest management knowledge, practices, and pesticide exposure pathways in Ghana and Mali. *Agricultural and Human Values*, 32, 761-775.
- Cissé, B.S. 2012. Rapport sur l'étude de dossiers pour le suivi sanitaire et environnemental pour le passage de l'autorisation provisoire de vente à l'homologation. Bamako : Comité Sahélien des Pesticides.
- Cissé, B.S., Maïga. A., Diarra, L.S. 1993. Evaluation de l'exposition aux pesticides anticholinestérasiques des manipulateurs dans la zone CMDT de Koutiala CMDT.
- Chouaïbou, M.S., Fodjo, B.K., Fokou, G., Allassane, O.F., Koudou, B.G., David, J.P., Antonio-Nkondjio, C., Ranson, H., and Bonfoh, B. 2016. Influence of the agrochemicals used for rice and vegetable cultivation on insecticide resistance in malaria vectors in southern Côte d'Ivoire. *Malaria Journal*, 15,426.
- Coulibaly, S.K., Keïta, M.B., Danfaga, B., Sogoba, A., Siomaga, I., Maïga, A.I. 2018. Etudes des intoxications aiguës dans la préfecture de Kati, région de Koulikoro, Mali. *Antropo*, 40, 43-51.
- Diallo, T., Hami, H., Maïga, A., Coulibaly, B., Maïga, D., Mokntari, A., Soulaymani, R., and Soulaymani, A. 2013. *Santé Publique*, 3(25), 359-366.
- Diallo, T., Dénou, A., Coulibaly, B.F., Dakouo, B. 2016. Epidemiologie des intoxications aiguës chez les enfants de moins de 15 ans au Mali. *Antropo*, 35, 103-110.
- Donkor, A., Osei-Fosu, P., Dubey, B., Kingsford-Adaboh, R., Ziwu, C., and Asante, I. 2016. Pesticide residues in fruits and vegetables in Ghana: A review. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research* 23, 18966–18987.
- Département de la protection des végétaux et du contrôle de la qualité (DPVCQ). 2017. Autorisations préalables d'importation. Abidjan : Ministère de l'Agriculture.
- duBois, J. 2019. Trade Africa Côte d'Ivoire and Senegal SPS Laboratory Improvement Action Plan. Washington, DC: US Department of Agriculture, Foreign Agricultural Service.
- Diarra, Amadou and Haggblade, Steven. 2017. National implementation of regional pesticide policies in West Africa: Achievements, challenges and priorities. FSP Innovation Lab Research Paper 81. East Lansing, MI: Michigan State University.

Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). 2020a. Overview of Risk Assessment in the Pesticide Program. Accessed on March 18, 2020. https://www.epa.gov/pesticide-science-andassessing-pesticide-risks/overview-risk-assessment-pesticide-program

- Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). 2020b. Paraquat Dichloride. Accessed on May 15, 2020. https://www.epa.gov/ingredients-used-pesticide-products/paraquat-dichloride
- Extension Toxicology Network (EXTOXNET). 1993. Pesticide information profile: Paraquat. Accessed on March 18, 2020 at

http://pmep.cce.cornell.edu/profiles/extoxnet/metiram-propoxur/paraquat-ext.html

- FAO. 2019. FAO scales up fight against Fall Armyworm. Accessed on December 4, 2019. http://www.fao.org/news/story/en/item/1253916/icode/
- FAOSTAT. 2019. Accessed on December 4, 2019. <u>http://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data</u>.
- Gray, G.M. and Hammitt, J.K. 2000. Risk/risk trade-offs in pesticide regulation: An exploratory analysis of the public health effects of a ban on organophosphate and carbamate pesticides. *Risk Analysis* 20(5), 665-680.
- Gunnell, D., Knipe, D., Chang, S.S., Pearson, M., Konradsen, F., Lee, W.J., and Eddleston, M. 2017. Prevention of sucide with regulations aimed at restricting access to highly hazardous pesticides: a systematic review of international evidence. *The Lancet* 5(10), E1026-E1037.
- Haggbalde. S. 2020. Fraudulent pesticides in West Africa: Trends, quality concerns, and policy implications. Virtual presentation at the Agricultural and Applied Economics Association. August 13<sup>th</sup>.
- Kamel, F. 2013. Paths from Pesticides to Parkinson's. Science, 341(6147):722-723
- Kim, J., Shin, S.D., Jeing, S., Suh, G.J., and Kwak, Y.H. 2017. Effect of prohibiting the use of Paraquat on pesticide associated mortality. *Science*, 17(858), 4832-4834.
- Haggblade, S., Minten, B., Pray, C., Reardon, T. and Zilberman, D. 2017a. The herbicide revolution in developing countries: patterns, causes and implications. *European Journal of Development Research*, 29, 533-559.
- Haggblade, S., Smale, M., Kergna, A., Theriault, V. and Assima, A. 2017b. Causes and consequences of increasing herbicide use in Mali. *European Journal of Development Research* 29, 648-674.
- Haggblade, S., Diarra, A., Jiang, W., Assima, A., Keita, N., Traoré, A., and Traoré, M. 2019.
   Fraudulent pesticides in West Africa: a quality assessment of glyphosate products in
   Mali. *International Journal of Pest Management*.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/09670874.2019.1668076">https://doi.org/10.1080/09670874.2019.1668076</a>.
- Ingenbleek, L., Hu, R., Pereira, L.L., Paineau, A., Colet, I., Kone, A.Z., Adegboye, A., Hossou, S.E., Dembele, Y., Oyedele, A.D., Kisito, C.S.K.J., Eyangoh, S., Verger, P., Leblanc, J-C., and Le Bizec B. 2019. Sub-Saharan Africa total diet study in Benin, Cameroon, Mali and Nigeria: Pesticides occurrence in foods. Food Chemistry, 100034. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fochx.2019.100034</u>
- Jepson, P.C., Guzy, M., Blaustein, K., Sow, M., Sarr, M., Mineau, P., Kegley, S. 2014. Measuring pesticide ecological and health risks in West African agriculture to establish an enabling environment for sustainable intensification. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society*, 369, 20130491.
- Jiang et al. 2019. Senegal, Ghana and Côte d'Ivoire pesticide laboratory assessments. Annexes 8,9 and 10 to Michigan State University's Final Performance Progress Report on Assuring Pesticide Quality Assurance in West Africa (USDA Grant: FX18TA-10960R023). East Lansing, Michigan: Michigan State University.

- Luna, J.K. 2020. 'Pesticides are our children now': cultural change and the technological treadmill in the Burkina Faso cotton sector. *Agricultural and Human Values* 37:449-462.
- Maïga, B.M.D.A., Koné, I., Haïdara, O., Koné, S., Diallo, F., Berthé, A., Traoré, I., and Sissoko,
   A. 2018. Détermination de la teneur en résidus de cinq pesticides organochlorés dans le lait des grands bassins laitiers au Mali-Sud. *International Journal of Biological and Chemical Science*, 12(6), 2680-2690.
- Manda, P., Adepo, A.J.B., Goze, N.B., and Dano, D.S. 2017. Assessment of Human and Ecosystem Contamination by Organochlorine Pesticides in Côte d'Ivoire. *Advanced Journal of Toxicology Current Research*, 1(2), 94-99.
- Matthews, D. 2018. How pesticide bans can prevent tens of thousands of suicides a year. *Vox:* https://www.vox.com/future-perfect/2018/11/15/18095174/pesticide-suicide-ban-srilanka-charity
- Michel, B., Togola, M., Téréta, I., Traoré, N.M. 2000. La lutte contre les ravageurs du cotonnier au Mali: problématique et évolution récente. *Cahiers Agricultures*, 2000(9), 109-115
- MirPlus. 2012. Évaluation de la qualité des pesticides commercialisés dans huit pays de l'espace CEDEAO. Rapport synthèse de l'étude pilote menée au Benin, Burkina Faso, Côte d'Ivoire, Ghana, Mali, Nigéria, Sénégal et Togo. Avril.
- Murray, K., Jepson, P.C., Chaola, M. 2019. Fall Armyworm management by maize smallholders in Malawi: an integrated pest management strategic plan. Mexico, CDMX: CIMMYT.
- Myung, W. et al. 2015. Paraquat prohibition and change in the suicide rate and methods in South Korea. *PLOS One* DOI:10.1371/journal.pone.0128980 June 2, 2015.
- National Pesticide Information Center (NPIC). 2010. Chlorpyrifos- General Fact Sheet. http://npic.orst.edu/factsheets/chlorpgen.html
- Oerke, E.-C. 2006. Crop losses to pests. Journal of Agricultural Sciences, 144, 31-43.
- Pezzoli, G. and Cereda, E. 2013. Exposure to pesticides or solvents and risk of Parkinson disease. *American Academy of Neurology*, 80(22). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.0b013e318294b3c8</u>
- PPDB. 2016. Pesticide Properties Database. Agriculture and Environment Research Unit, University of Hertfordshire.
- Tambo, J.A., Kansiime, M.K., Mugambi, I., Rwomushana, I., Kenis, M., Day, R.K., and Lamontagne-Godwin, J. 2020. Understanding smallholders' responses to fall armyworm (Spodoptera frugiperda) invasion: Evidence from five African countries. Science of the Total Environment (2018), DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.140015</u>
- Tefft, J. 2010. Mali's white revolution: smallholder cotton, 1960-2006. Chapter 6. In Steven Haggblade and Peter B.R. Hazell (editors) *Successes in African agriculture: lessons for the future*. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Tiembré, I., Aka, E.S., Djoman, C., Benié, J., Ekra, D., and Gnagne, T. 2016. Impact environnemental et sanitaire de l'utilisation des pesticides dans le maraîchage urbain et périurbain dans la zone de Yamoussoukro, Côte d'Ivoire. *Revue d'Épidémiologie et de la Santé Publiqu*e, 64(4), S249-S250.
- Traore, A. and Haggblade, S. 2017. Mise en oeuvre des politiques régionales sur les pesticides en Afrique de l'Ouest : rapport de l'étude de cas en Côte d'Ivoire. Feed the Future Innovation Lab for Food Security Policy Research Report 67. East Lansing, Michigan: Michigan State University.
- Traore, S.K., Mamadou, K., and Houenou, P. 2003. Étude comparative du niveau de résidus de pesticides organochlorés chez trois espèces de poissons du lac de buyo (sud-ouest de la Côte d'Ivoire) et estimation du potentiel de risques pour la santé humaine. (unpublished)

- Traore, S.K., Dembele, A., Mamadou, K., Mambo, V., Lafrance, P., Bekro, Y-A., and Houenou,
  P. 2008. Contrôle des pesticides organochlorés dans le lait et produits laitiers: Bioaccumulation et risques d'exposition. *Afrique Science*, 4(1), 87-98.
- Varah, A., Ahodo, K., Coutts, S.R., Hicks, H.L., Comont, D., Crook, L., Hull, R., Neve, P., Childs, D.Z., Freckleton, R.P., and Norris, K. 2019. The costs of human-induced evolution in an agricultural system. *Nature Sustainability*, 3, 63-71.
- World Health Organization (WHO). 2019. Suicide Fact Sheets. Accessed on September 2, 2019. https://www.who.int/en/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/suicide
- World Health Organization (WHO). 2020a. The WHO recommended classification of pesticides by hazard and guidelines to classification. 2019 edition. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO
- World Health Organization (WHO). 2020b. International Programme on Chemical Safety. Toxicovigilance. Accessed on May 15, 2020 <u>https://www.who.int/ipcs/poisons/centre/toxicovigilance/en/</u>

#### Appendix 1- Literature Search on Pesticide Risks in Three West African Countries

#### Côte d'Ivoire

- Ajayi, O.C., Akinnifesi, F.K., and Sileshi, G. 2011. Human health and occupational exposure to pesticides among smallholder farmers in cotton zones of Côte d'Ivoire. *Health*, 3(10): 631-637. doi:10.4236/health.2011.310107.
- Ajayi, O.C., and Akinnifesi, F.K. 2007. Farmers' understanding of pesticide safety labels and field spraying practices: A case study of cotton farmers in northern Côte d'Ivoire. *Scientific research and essays*, 2(6) · June 2007.
- Biego, H.M.G, Coulibaly, A., Koffi, M.K., Chatire, O.K., and Kouadio, L.P. 2009. Niveaux de résidus de pesticides organochlorés dans les produits du cacao en Côte d'Ivoire. *International Journal of Bilogical and Chemical Sciences*, 3(2):297-303.
- Bertrand, P.G. 2018. Uses and Misuses of Agricultural Pesticides in Africa: Neglected Public Health Threats for Workers and Population. DOI: 10.5772/intechopen.84566.
- Chouaïbou, M.S., Fodjo, B.K., Fokou, G., Allassane, O.F., Koudou, B.G., David, J.P., Antonio-Nkondjio, C., Ranson, H., and Bonfoh, B. 2016. Influence of the agrochemicals used for rice and vegetable cultivation on insecticide resistance in malaria vectors in southern Côte d'Ivoire. *Malaria Journal*, 15:426.
- Kouadio, D.L., Ehouman, S.G.A., Soro, B.D., Diarra, M., Doumbia, M.L., Meite, L., Mamadou, K., Dembele, A., Traore, S.K.. 2014. Contamination du lait caillé et de l'œuf consommé en Côte d'Ivoire par des pesticides organochlorés. *Afrique Science*,10(4):61-69.
- Mambe-Ani, P., Ouattara, K.N., Elleingand, F.E., Kadjo, V. 2019. Assessment of the impact of pesticide use in urban and periurban agriculture in Abidjan, Côte d'Ivoire. *International Journal of Biological and Chemical Sciences*, 13(6): 2924-2837.
- Manda, P., Adepo, A.J.B., Goze, N.B., and Dano, D.S. 2017. Assessment of Human and Ecosystem Contamination by Organochlorine Pesticides in Côte d'Ivoire. Advanced Journal of Toxicology Current Research, 1(2):94-99.
- N'guessan B.R., Célestin, A.K.B., Kouadio, K.B., Joseph, I.I. 2019. Les facteurs de risques de la modernisation de l'agriculture à Base de Pesticides dans la sous-préfecture de Tapeguia. *European Scientific Journal*, 15(15) : 378-400.
- Soro, G., Kone, B., Kouakou, Y.E., M'Bra, K.R., Soro, F.D., Soro, N. 2018. Utilisation de produits phytosanitaires dans le maraîchage autour du barrage d'alimentation en eau potable de la ville de Korhogo (nord de la Côte d'Ivoire) : risques pour la santé publique. *Environnement, Risques & Sante,* 17(2): 155-163
- Tano, B.F., Abo, K., Dembele, A., Fondio, L. 2011. Systèmes de production et pratiques à risque en agriculture urbaine: cas du maraîchage dans la ville de Yamoussoukro en Côte d'Ivoire. *International Journal of Biological and Chemical Sciences*, 56(6) :2317-2329.
- Tiembré, I., Aka, E.S., Djoman, C., Benié, J., Ekra, D., and Gnagne, T. 2016. Impact environnemental et sanitaire de l'utilisation des pesticides dans le maraîchage urbain et périurbain dans la zone de Yamoussoukro, Côte d'Ivoire. *Revue d'Épidémiologie et de la Santé Publique*, 64(4):S249-S250.
- Traore, S.K., Mamadou, K., and Houenou, P. 2003. Etude comparative du niveau de residus de pesticides organochlores chez trois especes de poissons du lac de buyo (sud-ouest de la Côte d'Ivoire) et estimation du potentiel de risques pour la sante humaine. (unpublished)

- Traore, S.K., Dembele, A., Mamadou, K., Mambo, V., Lafrance, P., Bekro, Y-A., and Houenou,
  P. 2008. Contrôle des pesticides organochlorés dans le lait et produits laitiers: Bioaccumulation et risques d'exposition. *Afrique Science*, 4(1):87-98.
- Traore, A., Ahoussi, K.E., Aka, N., Traore, A. and Soro, N. 2015. Niveau de contamination par les pesticides des eaux des lagunes Aghien et Potou (Sud-est de la Côte d'Ivoire). *International Journal of Pure and Applied Bioscience* 3(4):312-322.
- Yao, B.L., Kpan Kpan, G.K., Messoum, F.G., Dembele, A., Traore, K.S. 2016. Évaluation du risque phytosanitaire lié à la consommation de la laitue (Lactuca sativa) cultivée dans la commune de Port-Bouët (Abidjan). Revue Marocaine des Sciences Agronomiques et Véterinaires, 4(3):23-30
- Yao, K.S., Kouame, K.V., Yao, K.M., Atse, B.C., Trokourey, A., and Tidou, A.S. 2018. Contamination, distribution et évaluation des risques écologiques par les pesticides dans les sédiments de la lagune Ebrié, Côte d'Ivoire. *Afrique Science*, 14(6):400-412.

#### Ghana

- Akoto, O., Andoh, H., Eshun, K., and Osei-Fosu, P. 2013. Health risk assessment of pesticides residue in maize and cowpea from Ejura, Ghana. *Chemosphere*, 92(1):67-73. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2013.02.057.
- Akoto, O., Gavor, S., Appah, M.K., and Apau, J. 2015. Estimation of human health risk associated with the consumption of pesticide-contaminated vegetables from Kumasi, Ghana. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 187(244). DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-015-4471-0.
- Akoto, O., Oppong-Otoo, J., and Osei-Fosu, P. 2015. Carcinogenic and non-carcinogenic risk of organochlorine pesticide residues in processed cereal-based complementary foods for infants and young children in Ghana. *Chemosphere*, 132:193-199. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2015.02.056.
- Armah, F.A. 2011. Assessment of pesticide residues in vegetables at the farm gate: Cabbage (Brassica oleracea) cultivation in Cape Coast, Ghana. Research Journal of Environmental Toxicology, 5(3):180-202. https://doi.org/10.3923/rjet.2011.180.202
- Amoah, P. D., Abaidoo, R.C., and Ntow, W.J. 2006. Pesticide and Pathogen Contamination of Vegetables in Ghana's Urban Markets. Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, 50:1–6.
- Bempah, C.K., Buah-Kwofie, A., Denutsui, D., Asomaning, J., and Tutu, A.O. 2011. Monitoring of Pesticide Residues in Fruits and Vegetables and Related Health Risk Assessment in Kumasi Metropolis, Ghana. *Research Journal of Environmental and Earth Sciences* 3(6): 761-771.
- Bolor, V. K., Boadi, N. O., Borquaye, L.S., and Afful S. 2018. Human Risk Assessment of Organochlorine Pesticide Residues in Vegetables from Kumasi, Ghana. *Journal of Chemistry*, 2018(3269065). https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/3269065.
- Botwe, B. O., Ntow, W. J., Kelderman, P., Drechsel, P., Carboo, D., Nartey, V.K., Gijzen, H. J. 2011. Pesticide residues contamination of vegetables and their public health implications in Ghana. *Journal of Environmental Issues and Agriculture in Developing Countries*, 3 (2):10-18.
- Bempah, C.K., Agyekum, A.A., Akuamoa, F., Frimpong, S., Buah-Kwofie, A. 2016. Dietary exposure to chlorinated pesticide residues in fruits and vegetables from Ghanaian markets. *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis*, 46(2016):103-113.

- Clarke, E. E. K., Levy, L. S., Spurgeon, A., and Calvert, I.A. 1997. The problems associated with pesticide use by irrigation workers in Ghana. *Occupational Medicine*, 47(5): 301–308, https://doi.org/10.1093/occmed/47.5.301.
- Crentsil, K.B., Donkorb, A., Yeboah, P.O., Dubey, B., and Osei-Fosue, P. 2011. A preliminary assessment of consumer's exposure to organochlorine pesticides in fruits and vegetables and the potential health risk in Accra Metropolis, Ghana. *Food Chemistry*, 128(4):1058-1065.
- Darko, G. and Akoto, O. 2008. Dietary intake of organophosphorus pesticide residues through vegetables from Kumasi, Ghana. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, 46 (2008):3703–3706.
- Donkor, A., Osei-Fosu, P., Dubey, B., Kingsford-Adaboh, R., Ziwu, C., and Asante, I. 2016. Pesticide residues in fruits and vegetables in Ghana: a review. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 23:18966–18987.
- Essumang, D.K.D., Adokoh, C.K., and Fumador, E.A. 2008. Analysis of Some Pesticide Residues in Tomatoes in Ghana. *Human and Ecological Risk Assessment: An International Journal*, 14(4).
- Fianko, J.R., Donkor, A., Lowor, S.T., Yeboah, P.O., Glover, E.T., Adom, T., and Faanu, A. 2011. Health Risk Associated with Pesticide Contamination of Fish from the Densu River Basin in Ghana. *Journal of Environmental Protection*, 2: 115-123.
- Fosu-Mensah, B.Y., Okoffo, E.D., Darko, G., and Gordon, C. 2016. Assessment of organochlorine pesticide residues in soils and drinking water sources from cocoa farms in Ghana. *SpringerPlus* 5, 869 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40064-016-2352-9.
- Gbeddy, G.G., Yeboah, P., Carboo, D., Doamekpor, L., Afful, S., Nartey, V., Frimpong, S., Doyi, I., Glover, T., and Egbi, C. 2012. Organochlorine pesticide residues in African catfish muscle, Nile tilapia muscle and gills from the middle Volta basin, Kpando Torkor, Ghana and their potential health risks to humans. *Elixir Agriculture*, 49 (2012) 9724-9730.
- Ntow, W.J. 2005. Pesticide residues in Volta Lake, Ghana. Lakes & Reservoirs: Research and Management, 10: 243-248.
- Ntow, W.J., Gijzen, H.J., Kelderman, P., and Drechsel, P. 2006. Farmer perceptions and pesticide use practices in vegetable production in Ghana. *Pest Management Science*, 62(4):356-365. https://doi.org/10.1002/ps.1178

#### Mali

- Ajayi, O.C, Camara, M., Fleischer, G., Haidara, F., Sow, M., Traoré, A., and van der Valk, H. 2002. Socio-economic assessment of pesticide use in Mali. GTZ/University of Hanover Pesticide Policy Project. Hanover: University of Hanover.
- Baldry, D.C., and Yaméogo, L. 1995. Environmental impact assessment of settlement and development in the Upper Leraba Basin: Burkina Faso, Côte d'Ivoire, and Mali. World Bank Technical Paper No. 302. Washington, DC: The World Bank.
- Cissé, B.S., Maïga, A., and Diarra, L.S. 1991. Evaluation de l'exposition aux pesticides anticholinestérasiques des manipulateurs dans deux zones d'intervention en milieu rural : Nara et Mourdiah. SNPV Bamako Août-Octobre.
- Cissé, B.S., Maïga, A., and Diarra, L.S. 1993. Evaluation de l'exposition aux pesticides anticholinestérasiques des manipulateurs dans la zone CMDT de Koutiala CMDT.
- Coulibaly, S.K., Dicko, H., Camara, B., Diallo, B., Doumbia, D. 2015. Intoxications aiguës aux pesticides: Expérience du Centre Hospitalier Universitaire (CHU) de Point G, Bamako, Mali. *Antropo*, 34, 69-72. <u>www.didac.ehu.es/antropo</u>.

- Coulibaly, S.K., Keïta, M.B., Danfaga, B., Sogoba, A., Siomaga, I., Maïga, A.I. 2018. Etudes des intoxications aiguës dans la préfecture de Kati, région de Koulikoro, Mali. *Antropo*, 40:43-51.
- Dem, S.B. 2004. Environmental Study of Pesticide Residues in Soil and Water from Cotton Growing Areas in Mali. M.Sc. Thesis, Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University. Blacksburg, Virginia: Virginia Tech.
- Diallo, T., Hami, H., Maïga, A., Coulibaly, B., Maïga, D., Mokntari, A., Soulaymani, R., and Soulaymani, A. 2013. Épidémiologie et facteurs de risque des intoxications volontaires au Mali. *Santé Publique*, 3(25):359-366.
- Diallo, T., Dénou, A., Coulibaly, B.F., Dakouo, B. 2016, Epidemiologie des intoxications aiguës chez les enfants de moins de 15 ans au Mali. *Antropo*, 35 :103-110.
- Dicko, M.K., N'Diaye, M.K., and Marlet, S. 2013. Analyse des risques de pollution liés à l'intensification et la diversification agricoles en zone Office du Niger au Mali. Analyse des risques de pollution liés à l'intensification et la diversification agricoles en zone Office du Niger au Mali. In : La science rizicole pour la sécurité alimentaire à travers le renforcement de l'agriculture familiale et l'agro-industrie en Afrique : 3ème Congrès du riz en Afrique 2013, 21-24 octobre 2013, Yaoundé, Cameroun. Programme et résumés. Centre du riz pour l'Afrique, IRAD, FAO. Cotonou : ADRAO [Centre du Riz pour l'Afrique], Résumé, p. 67. Africa Rice Congress. 3, Yaoundé, Cameroun, 21 October 2013/24 October 2013.
- Hami, H., Diallo, T., Maïga, A., Mokhtari, A., Soulaymani-Bencheikh, R., and Soulaymani, A. 2013. Acute pesticide poisoning in Sikasso, Mali. Occupational Environment and Medicine. Abstract Number:5345.
- Ingenbleek, L., Hu, R., Pereira, L.L., Paineau, A., Colet, I., Kone, A.Z., Adegboye, A., Hossou, S.E., Dembele, Y., Oyedele, A.D., Kisito, C.S.K.J., Eyangoh, S., Verger, P., Leblanc, J-C., and Le Bizec B. 2019. Sub-Saharan Africa total diet study in Benin, Cameroon, Mali and Nigeria: Pesticides occurrence in foods. *Food Chemistry*, 100034. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fochx.2019.100034
- Jepson, P.C., Guzy, M., Blaustein, K., Sow, M., Sarr, M., Mineau, P., and Kegley, S. 2014. Measuring pesticide ecological and health risks in West African agriculture to establish an enabling environment for sustainable intensification. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society* 369:20130491.
- Keita, D. 1992. Evaluation des risques d'exposition chez les travailleurs manipulant les insecticides organophosphores et pyrethrinoides en zone CMDT de Koutiala. Thèse, Diplôme d'Etat. Bamako : Ecole Nationale de Medecine et de Pharmacie.
- Le Bars, M., Sidibe, F., Mandart, E., Fabre, J., Le Grusse, P., and Diakite, C.H. 2020. Évaluation des risques liés à l'utilisation de pesticides en culture cotonnière au Mali. *Cahiers Agricoles*, 29(4) <u>https://doi.org/10.1051/cagri/2020005</u>
- Maïga, B.M.D.A., Koné, I., Haïdara, O., Koné, S., Diallo, F., Berthé, A., Traoré, I., and Sissoko, A. 2018. Détermination de la teneur en résidus de cinq pesticides organochlorés dans le lait des grands bassins laitiers au Mali-Sud. *International Journal of Biological and Chemical Science*, 12(6): 2680-2690.
- Ndiaye, O.B.K. 2010. Technologies de décontamination de sols contaminés par des pesticides au Mali. M.Sc. essay presented to the Centre universitaire de formation en environnement, Université de Sherbrooke, Sherbrooke, Québec, Canada.
- Settle, W., Soumare, M., Sarr, M., Garba, M.H., and Poisot, A-S. 2014. Reducing pesticide risks to farming communities: cotton farmer field schools in Mali. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society* 369:20120277.

Droy, I., Bélières, J-F., Bidou, J.E. 2012. Entre crise et rebond: questions autour de la durabilité des systèmes de production cotonniers au Mali. *The European Journal of Development Research* 24: 491-508. https://doi.org/10.1057/ejdr.2012.12

				Qualitati			
List of active ingredients	Chemical family	Pesticide category	Authorized	a) Probability of exposure	b) Severity if exposed	Risk score= a* b	Risk
Chlorpyrifos	Organophosphates	Insecticide	Yes	4	4	16	Severe
Glyphosate	Organophosphates	Herbicide	Yes	5	3	15	Severe
Carbosulfan	Carbamates	Insecticide	No	3	5	15	Severe
Deltamethrin	Pyrethroid	Insecticide	Yes	4	3	12	High
Cypermetrin	Pyrethroid	Insecticide	Yes	4	3	12	High
Lamda cyhalothrin	Pyrethroid	Insecticide	Yes	4	3	12	High
2,4 D	Phenoxyalkanoic acids	Herbicide	Yes	3	4	12	High
Atrazine	Triazines	Herbicide	No	3	4	12	High
Aluminium phosphide	Inorganic compound	Insecticide	No	3	4	12	High
Haloxyfop-R-methyl	Aryloxyphenoxypropionate	Herbicide	Yes	4	3	12	High
Imidacloprid	Neonicotinoid	Insecticide	Yes	3	4	12	High
Nicosulfuron	Substituted ureas	Herbicide	Yes	4	3	12	High
Thiram	Carbamates	Fungicide	Yes	3	4	12	High
Metolachlor	Chloroacetamide	Herbicide	Yes	3	4	12	High
Carbofuran	Carbamates	Insecticide	No	2	5	10	High
Acetamiprid	Neonicotinoid	Insecticide	Yes	2	5	10	High
Paraquat	Bipyridylium	Herbicide	No	2	5	10	High
Bensulfuron methyl	Sulfonylurea.	Herbicide	Yes	3	3	9	High
Permethrin	Pyrethroid	Insecticide	Yes	3	3	9	High
Pendimethalin	Dinitroaniline	Herbicide	Yes	3	3	9	High
Propanil	Phenylamides	Herbicide	Yes	2	4	8	High
Profenofos	Organophosphates	Insecticide	Yes	2	3	6	Medium
Diuron	Substituted ureas	Herbicide	Yes	2	3	6	Medium
Lindane	Organochlorine	Insecticide	No	1	5	5	Medium
Malathion	Organophosphates	Insecticide	Yes	1	5	5	Medium
Fenitrothion	Organophosphates	Insecticide	No	1	4	4	Medium
Fenthion	Organophosphates	Insecticide/acaricide	No	1	4	4	Medium
Aclonifen	diphenyl-ether	Herbicide	Yes	1	2	2	Low
Endosulfan	Organochlorine	Insecticide/acaricide	No	0	5	0	Null
Aldrin	Organochlorine	Insecticide	No	0	5	0	Null
Dieldrin	Organochlorine	Insecticide	No	0	5	0	Null
Endrin	Organochlorine	Insecticide/rodenticide	No	0	5	0	Null
Heptachlor	Organochlorine	Insecticide	No	0	5	0	Null

#### Appendix 2. Table A1. Qualitative risk assessment - Mali

Source: Authors based on information compiled from the panel expert workshop.

				Qualitative risk assessment				
List of active ingredients	Chemical family	Pesticide category	Authorized	a) probability of exposure	b) severity if exposed	Risk score= a * b	Risk	
2,4 D	Phenoxyalkanoic acids	Herbicide	Yes	5	4	20	Severe	
Chlorpyrifos	Organophosphates	Insecticide	Yes	4	4	16	Severe	
Metalaxyl M	Acylalanine	Fungicide	Yes	4	4	16	Severe	
Glyphosate	Organophosphates	Herbicide	Yes	5	3	15	Severe	
Profenofos	Organophosphates	Insecticide/Nematicides/ Acaricides	Yes	3	4	12	High	
Dimethomorph	Morpholine	Fungicide		4	3	12	High	
Imidacloprid	Neonicotinoid	Insecticide / Acaricides	Yes	5	2	10	High	
Acetamiprid	Neonicotinoid	Insecticide	Yes	5	2	10	High	
Mancozeb	Carbamates	Fungicides/Insecticides	Yes	5	2	10	High	
Maneb	Ethylene bisdithiocarbamates	Fungicides/Insecticides	Yes	5	2	10	High	
Zineb	Ethylene bisdithiocarbamates	Fungicides/Insecticides	Yes	5	2	10	High	
Triadimenol	Triazoles	Fungicide	Yes	3	3	9	High	
Dimethoate	Organophosphates	Insecticides	Yes	2	4	8	High	
Paraquat	Bipyridylium	Herbicide	No	2	4	8	High	
Triclopyr	Pyridine	Herbicide	Yes	4	2	8	High	
Cycloxydim	Oxime	Herbicide	Yes	4	2	8	High	
Propanil	Phenylamides	Herbicide	Yes	4	2	8	High	
Atrazine	Triazines	Herbicide	No	2	4	8	High	
Pyrazosulfuron	Triazines	Herbicide	Yes	4	2	8	High	
2				4	2	8	0	
Diuron	Substituted ureas	Herbicide	Yes	4	2	8	High	
Haloxyfop-R Methyl	Aryloxyphenoxypropionate	Herbicide	Yes				High	
Nicosulfuron	Substituted ureas	Herbicide	Yes	4	2	8	High	
Cupric oxide	Inorganic compound	Fungicide	Yes	4	2	8	High	
Carbofuran	Carbamates	Insecticide	No	2	3	6	Medium	
Thiametoxam	Neonicotinoids	Insecticide	Yes	5	1	5	Medium	
Cypermethrin	Pyrethroid	Insecticides/Acaricides	Yes	5	1	5	Medium	
Lamda Cyhalothrin	Pyrethroid	Insecticides/Acaricides	Yes	5	1	5	Medium	
Bifenthrin	Pyrethroid	Insecticides/Acaricides	Yes	5	1	5	Medium	
Deltamethrin	Pyrethroid	Insecticides/Acaricides	Yes	5	1	5	Medium	
Cyphenothrin	Pyrethroid	Insecticides/Acaricides	Yes	5	1	5	Medium	
Tetramethrin	Pyrethroid	Insecticides/Acaricides	Yes	5	1	5	Medium	
Terbufos	Organophosphates	Insecticide/Nematicides	Yes	1	4	4	Medium	
Temephos	Organophosphates	Insecticides	Yes	1	4	4	Medium	
Pirimiphos methyl	Organophosphorothioate	Insecticides	Yes	1	4	4	Medium	
Fipronil	Phenylpyrazole	Insecticides	Yes	3	1	3	Medium	
CMB (Thiophanate-Methyl)	Carbamate	Fungicide	Yes	1	3	3	Medium	
Pyraclostrobin	Carbanilate	Fungicide	Yes	1	3	3	Medium	
Chlothianidin	Neonicotinoid	Insecticide	Yes	1	2	2	Low	
Prochloraz	Imidazole	Fungicide	Yes	2	1	2	Low	
Novaluron	Benzoylphenyl urea	Insecticide	Yes	1	1	1	Low	
P,P-DDT	Organochlorine	Insecticides	No	0	5	0	Null	
Malathion	Organophosphates	Insecticides	No	0	4	0	Null	
Fenitrothion	Organophosphates	Insecticides	No	0	4	0	Null	
Fenthion	Organophosphates	Insecticides	No	0	4	0	Null	
Aldicarb	Carbamates	Insecticides	No	0	5	0	Null	
Diniconazol	Conazole	Fungicide	No	0	4	0	Null	

#### Appendix 3: Table A2. Qualitative Risk Assessment – Côte d'Ivoire

Source: Authors based on information compiled from the panel expert workshop.

				Qualitative risk asses				
				a)	a) b)			
				Probability	Severity	Risk		
		Pesticide		of	if	score=		
List of active ingredients	Chemical family	category	Authorized	exposure	exposed	a * b		
Paraquat	Bipyridylium	Herbicide	Yes	4	4	16		
Chlorpyrifos	Organophosphates	Insecticide	Yes	3	4	12		
Lamda cyhalothrin	Pyrethroid	Insecticide	Yes	3	4	12		
Aluminium Phosphide	Inorganic compound	Insecticide*	Yes	2	5	10		
Glyphosate	Organophosphates	Herbicide	Yes	4	2	8		
Mancozeb	Carbamate	Fungicide	Yes	2	3	6		
Imidacloprid	Neonicotinoid	Insecticide	Yes	2	2	4		
2,4 D	Phenoxyalkanoic acids	Herbicide	Yes					
Carbofuran	Carbamates	Nematicide	Yes					
Dimethoate	Organophosphate	Insecticide	Yes					
Fenvalerate	Pyrethroid	Insecticide	Yes					
Pirimiphos-methyl	Organophosphate	Insecticide	Yes					

#### Appendix 4. Table A3. Qualitative Risk Assessment Ghana

Source: Authors based on information compiled from the panel expert workshop. Note:  $\ast$  storage

www.feedthefuture.gov